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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

DISTRICT OF NEVADA 
 
 
 

  
LINDA SCHMIDT SKOGMO, individually, 
and on behalf of all others similarly situated,  
 
  Plaintiff, 
 
v. 
 
GREATER NEVADA CREDIT UNION, 
and DOES 1 through 5, inclusive, 
 
  Defendants. 

Case No.: 3:21-cv-384 
 
COMPLAINT FOR: 

 
1. Violation of the Electronic Fund 

Transfer Act (Regulation E, 12 
C.F.R. §§ 1005, et seq.) 

2. Violation of the Nevada Deceptive 
Trade Practices Act (Nev. Rev. Stat. 
§§ 598.0903, et seq.)  

 
CLASS ACTION 
 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

1. Plaintiff Linda Schmidt Skogmo hereby brings this lawsuit against Greater 

Nevada Credit Union (“GNCU”) on behalf of GNCU’s members, on the basis that GNCU has 

violated Federal Reserve Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.1, et seq. Regulation E requires that 

before financial institutions may charge overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM 

transactions, they must (1) provide a complete, accurate, clear, and easily understandable 

disclosure document of their overdraft services (opt-in disclosure agreement); (2) provide that 

disclosure as a stand-alone document not intertwined with other disclosures; and (3) obtain 

verifiable affirmative consent of a customer’s agreement to opt into the financial institution’s 

overdraft program. 

2. In order to comply with Regulation E, GNCU must provide members with a 

Regulation E opt-in disclosure agreement that accurately and simply describes its overdraft 

program and services. But GNCU does not provide its members, including Plaintiff, with an 

accurate and/or easily understandable Regulation E opt-in disclosure agreement describing the 

circumstances or conditions in which GNCU charges overdraft fees.  

3. Because Regulation E does not permit financial institutions to charge overdraft 

fees until they obtain affirmative consent from customers through an accurate disclosure of their 

overdraft practices in a stand-alone opt-in disclosure agreement, GNCU’s assessment of all 

overdraft fees against members for one-time debit card and ATM transactions has been and 

continues to be illegal. Further, GNCU’s continued use of a non-conforming disclosure 

agreement to “opt-in” new members to its overdraft service is invalid. 

4. Regulation E provides a cause of action against financial institutions that fail to 

abide by its requirements. GNCU’s violations are also actionable under the Nevada Deceptive 

Trade Practices Act. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598.0903 et seq. Pursuant to the Nevada Deceptive 

Trade Practices Act, Plaintiff also seeks to enjoin GNCU from continuing to obtain new 

members’ “consent” to be assessed overdraft fees by using an opt-in disclosure agreement that 

violates Regulation E, and from continuing to assess overdraft fees on Regulation E transactions 
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until it obtains the consent of current members using a Regulation E-compliant disclosure 

agreement. See Nev. Rev. Stat. § 598A.210. 

 NATURE OF THE ACTION 

5. All allegations herein are based upon information and belief except those 

allegations pertaining to Plaintiff or counsel (unless otherwise stated). Allegations pertaining to 

Plaintiff or counsel are based upon, inter alia, Plaintiff’s or counsel’s personal knowledge, as 

well as Plaintiff’s or counsel’s own investigation. Furthermore, each allegation alleged herein 

either has evidentiary support or is likely to have evidentiary support, after a reasonable 

opportunity for additional investigation or discovery. 

6. Plaintiff has brought this class and representative action to assert claims in his 

own right and as the class representative of all other persons similarly situated. Regulation E 

requires GNCU to obtain informed consent, by way of a written stand-alone document that fully 

and accurately describes in an easily understandable way its overdraft services, before charging 

members an overdraft fee on one-time debit card and ATM transactions. Because of the 

substantial harm caused by large overdraft fees on relatively small debit card and ATM 

transactions, Regulation E requires financial institutions to put all mandated overdraft 

information in one clear and easily understood document. Financial institutions are not permitted 

to circumvent this requirement by referencing, or relying on, their account agreements, 

disclosures, or marketing materials. Regulation E expressly requires a financial institution to 

include all the relevant terms of its overdraft program within the four corners of the document, 

creating a separate agreement with account holders regarding the institution’s overdraft policies.  

7. GNCU does not meet these requirements. It does not provide its members with a 

compliant stand-alone Regulation E opt-in disclosure agreement because, inter alia, it fails to 

accurately and in an easily understandable manner describe its overdraft services including, but 

not limited to, failing to state or clearly describe its overdraft procedures within the four corners 

of the opt-in agreement. It also fails to include all of the information mandated by Regulation E, 

and includes additional information not permitted. Furthermore, the opt-in disclosure agreement 
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uses inconsistent terminology to describe GNCU’s overdraft services and misrepresents and/or 

promotes the overdrafts services in a misleading manner. 

8. In its opt-in disclosure agreement, GNCU explains that it will pay overdrafts for 

those members that opt into its overdraft program (“Overdraft Protection”) and do “not have 

enough money in [his or her] account to cover a transaction.” When the overdraft is covered, 

GNCU charges the member a $35 fee.1 But GNCU’s opt-in disclosure agreement inaccurately 

discloses what it means for a member to “not have enough money” in the account. Regulation E 

requires GNCU to clearly and unambiguously disclose how it calculates overdrafts, and under 

what conditions it charges overdraft fees as part of its overdraft program. 

9. GNCU’s failure to use an opt-in disclosure agreement substantially similar to the 

Model A-9 form, its failure to present all of the required information about its overdraft services, 

and its use of inconsistent terms to describe its overdraft service, all show fundamental disregard 

for Regulation E’s basic purpose of protecting consumers by ensuring that all of their overdraft 

service options are disclosed so they can make an informed decision when deciding whether or 

not to opt into overdraft coverage for Regulation E-covered transactions.  

10. Plaintiff has been harmed by GNCU’s violations of these regulations. On 

information and belief, Plaintiff was opted in to GNCU’s overdraft program using an improper 

disclosure agreement that failed to adequately describe, and misrepresented to members, 

GNCU’s overdraft practices. Further, Plaintiff has been assessed overdraft fees on transactions 

that were not permitted because GNCU obtained Plaintiff’s “consent” using the non-compliant 

agreement. This action seeks statutory damages, restitution, and injunctive relief due to, inter 

alia, GNCU’s policy and practice of obtaining “affirmative consent” using a noncompliant opt-in 

disclosure agreement while improperly advertising and marketing its overdraft services.  

 PARTIES 

11. Plaintiff Linda Schmidt Skogmo is a resident of Gardnerville, Nevada, and a 

GNCU member at all relevant times to this Complaint.  

 
1 https://www.gncu.org/Resources/Banking/Overdraft-Protection (last visited on Aug. 26, 2021). 
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12. Based on information and belief, GNCU is a credit union with its headquarters 

and principal place of business in Carson City, Nevada. GNCU maintains several branches 

throughout northern Nevada.  

13. Without limitation, defendants DOES 1 through 5, include agents, partners, joint 

ventures, subsidiaries, and/or affiliates of Defendant and, upon information and belief, also own 

and/or operate Defendant’s branch locations. As used herein, where appropriate, the term 

“Defendant” is also inclusive of Defendants DOES 1 through 5.  

14. Plaintiff is unaware of the true names of Defendants DOES 1 through 5. 

Defendants DOES 1 through 5 are thus sued by fictitious names, and the pleadings will be 

amended as necessary to obtain relief against Defendants DOES 1 through 5 when the true 

names are ascertained, or as permitted by law or the Court. 

15. There exists, and at all times herein mentioned existed, a unity of interest and 

ownership between the named defendants (including DOES) such that any corporate 

individuality and separateness between the named defendants has ceased, and that the named 

defendants are alter egos in that they effectively operate as a single enterprise, or are mere 

instrumentalities of one another.  

16. At all material times herein, each defendant was the agent, servant, co-

conspirator, and/or employer of each of the remaining defendants; acted within the purpose, 

scope, and course of said agency, service, conspiracy, and/or employment and with the express 

and/or implied knowledge, permission, and consent of the remaining defendants; and ratified and 

approved the acts of the other defendants. However, each of these allegations are deemed 

alternative theories whenever not doing so would result in a contradiction with the other 

allegations. 

17. Whenever reference is made in this Complaint to any act, deed, or conduct of 

Defendant, the allegation means that Defendant engaged in the act, deed, or conduct by or 

through one or more of its officers, directors, agents, employees, or representatives who was 

actively engaged in the management, direction, control, or transaction of Defendant’s ordinary 

business and affairs.  
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18. As to the conduct alleged herein, each act was authorized, ratified, or directed by 

Defendant’s officers, directors, or managing agents. 

 JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

19. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332 under the Class Action Fairness Act of 2005 because: (i) there are 100 or more Class 

Members, (ii) there is an aggregate amount in controversy exceeding $5,000,000, exclusive of 

interest and costs, and (iii) there is minimal diversity because at least one plaintiff and one 

defendant are citizens of different States. This Court also has federal question subject matter 

jurisdiction over this case under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 15 U.S.C. § 1693m, and supplemental 

jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s state law claims, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367(a).  

20. Venue is proper in this District because GNCU maintains its headquarters in this 

District, transacts business in this District, and GNCU executed the unlawful policies and 

practices which are the subject of this action in this District. 

 BACKGROUND 

A. Defendant GNCU 

21. GNCU is a credit union headquartered in Carson City, Nevada, with branches in 

several cities across northern Nevada. As of December 31, 2020, according to its financial 

filings, it reported having over 78,000 members and holding over $1.3 billion in assets. GNCU 

reported that in 2020 it collected approximately $15 million in fee income, of which overdraft 

fees are believed to constitute a significant percentage.    

22. One of GNCU’s main services is a “share deposit” account.2 A checking account 

balance can increase or be credited in a variety of ways, including automatic payroll deposits; 

electronic deposits; incoming transfers; deposits at a branch; and deposits at ATM machines. 

Debits decreasing the amount in a checking account also can be made by using a debit card for 

purchases of goods and services (point of sale purchases) that can be one-time purchases or 

recurring automatic purchases; through withdrawal of money at an ATM; or by electronic 

 
2 This is a credit union’s formal nomenclature for what is more commonly known as a 
“checking” account at banks.  
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purchases. Additionally, some of the other ways to debit the account include writing checks; 

issuing electronic checks; scheduling Automated Clearing House (ACH) transactions (which can 

include recurring automatic payments or one-time payments); transferring funds; and other types 

of transactions that debit from a checking account.  

23. In connection with its processing of debit transactions (debit card, ATM, check, 

ACH, and other similar transactions), GNCU assesses overdraft fees (a fee for paying an 

overdrawn item) and NSF fees (a fee for a declined, unpaid returned item) to its members’ 

accounts when it claims to have determined that an account has been overdrawn.  

24. The underlying principle for charging overdraft fees is that when a financial 

institution pays a transaction by advancing its own funds to cover the account holder’s 

insufficient funds, it may charge a contracted and/or disclosed fee, provided that charging the 

fee is not prohibited by some legal regulation. The fee GNCU charges here constitutes very 

expensive credit in the overdraft context that harms the poorest customers and creates substantial 

profit. According to a 2014 Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) study:3 

• Overdraft and NSF fees constitute the majority of the total checking account fees 

that customers incur.  

• The transactions leading to overdrafts are often quite small. In the case of debit 

card transactions, the median amount of the transaction that leads to an overdraft 

fee is $24. 

• The average overdraft fee for bigger banks is $34 and $31 for smaller banks and 

credit unions. 

Accordingly, as highlighted in the CFPB Press Release related to this study: 

Put in lending terms, if a consumer borrowed $24 for three days 
and paid the median overdraft of $34, such a loan would carry a 
17,000 percent annual percentage rate (APR). 

 
3 https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201407_cfpb_report_data-point_overdrafts.pdf (last visited 
Aug. 26, 2021). 
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(Emphasis added.)4 

25. Overdraft and NSF fees constitute a primary revenue generator for banks and 

credit unions. According to one banking industry market research company, Moebs Services, 

banks and credit unions in 2018 alone generated an estimated $34.5 billion on overdraft fees.5  

26. GNCU’s financial filings and practices reveal that it has followed these trends to 

the letter. GNCU charges an overdraft fee of $35 per item. But even if it had been properly 

charging overdraft fees, the $35 overdraft fee bears no relation to its minute risk of loss or cost 

for administering overdraft and non-sufficient funds services. But an overdraft fee’s practical 

effect is to charge those who pay them an interest rate with an APR in the thousands. And on top 

of the original $35 overdraft fee, Greater Nevada assesses an additional $10 per day fee until the 

account is brought to a positive balance.  

27. Accordingly, overdraft fees are punitive fees rather than service fees, which 

makes it even more unfair because most account overdrafts are accidental and involve a small 

amount of money in relation to the fee. A 2012 study found that more than 90% of customers 

who were assessed overdraft fees overdrew their accounts by mistake.6 In a 2014 study, more 

than 60% of the transactions that resulted in a large overdraft fee were for less than $50.7 More 

than 50% of those assessed overdraft fees do not recall opting into an overdraft program, (id. at 

p. 5), and more than two-thirds of customers would have preferred the financial institution 

decline their transaction rather than being charged a very large fee, (id. at p. 10). 

 
4 CFPB, CFPB Finds Small Debit Purchases Lead to Expensive Overdraft Charges (7/31/2014) 
https://www.consumerfinance.gov/about-us/newsroom/cfpb-finds-small-debit-purchases-lead-to-
expensive-overdraft-charges/ (last visited Aug. 26, 2021). 
5 Moebs Services, Overdraft Revenue Inches Up in 2018 (March 27, 2019), 
http://www.moebs.com/Portals/0/pdf/Articles/Overdraft%20Revenue%20Inches%20Up%20in%
202018%200032719-1.pdf?ver=2019-03-27-115625-283 (last visited Aug. 26, 2021).  
6 Pew Charitable Trust Report, Overdraft America: Confusion and Concerns about Bank 
Practices, at p. 4 (May 2012), https://www.pewtrusts.org/-
/media/legacy/uploadedfiles/pcs_assets/2012/sciboverdraft20america1pdf.pdf (last visited Aug. 
26, 2021). 
7 Pew Charitable Trust Report, Overdrawn, at p. 8 (June 2014), https://www.pewtrusts.org/-
/media/assets/2014/06/26/safe_checking_overdraft_survey_report.pdf (last visited Aug. 26, 
2021). 
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28. Finally, the financial impact of these fees falls on the most vulnerable among the 

banking population with the least ability to absorb the overdraft fees. Younger, lower-income, 

and non-white accountholders are among those most likely to be assessed overdraft fees. (Id. at 

p. 3.) A 25-year-old is 133% more likely to pay an overdraft penalty fee than a 65-year-old. (Id.) 

More than 50% of the customers assessed overdraft fees earned under $40,000 per year. (Id. at p. 

4.) And non-whites are 83% more likely to pay an overdraft fee than whites. (Id. at p. 3.) 

B. Regulation E 

29. For many years, banks and credit unions have offered overdraft services to their 

account holders. Historically, the fees these services generated were relatively low, particularly 

when methods of payment were limited to cash, check, and credit card. But the rise of debit card 

transactions replacing cash for smaller transactions—especially for younger customers who 

carried lower balances—provided an opportunity for financial institutions to increase the number 

of transactions in a checking account that could potentially be considered overdraft transactions, 

and for which the financial institution could assess a hefty overdraft fee. The increase in these 

types of transactions was timed perfectly for financial institutions, which faced falling revenue as 

a result of lower overall interest rates and the rise of competitive innovations such as no-fee 

checking accounts. Financial institutions thus recognized in overdraft fees a new and increasing 

revenue stream. 

30. As a result, the overdraft process became one of the primary sources of revenue 

for financial depository institutions—banks and credit unions—both large and small. As such, 

financial institutions became eager to provide overdraft services to consumers because not only 

do overdrafts generate revenue, they do so with little risk. When an overdraft is covered, it is on 

average repaid in three days, meaning that the financial institution advances small sums of 

money for no more than a day or two.  

31. Using common understanding, an overdraft occurs when two conditions are 

satisfied. First, the consumer initiates a transaction that will result in the money in the account 

falling below zero if the financial institution makes payment on the transaction. Second, the 

financial institution pays the transaction by advancing its own funds to cover the shortfall. An 
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overdraft, therefore, is an extension of credit. The financial institution advancing the funds, 

allows the accountholder to continue paying transactions even when the account has no money in 

it, or the account has insufficient funds to cover the amount of the withdrawal.8 The financial 

institution uses its own money to pay the transaction, on the assumption that the account holder 

will eventually cover the shortfall. 

32. Before the Federal Reserve amended Regulation E regarding requirements for 

overdraft services, many financial institutions unilaterally adopted internal “overdraft payment” 

plans. Consumers would initiate transactions that financial institutions would identify as 

“overdrafts,” then the financial institution would cover the overdraft while charging the standard 

overdraft fee. Under such programs, consumers were charged a substantial fee—on average 

higher than the debit card transaction triggering the overdraft itself—without ever having made 

any choice as to whether they wanted such transactions approved or instead declined and 

providing the opportunity to select another form of payment rather than turning a $4 cup of 

coffee at Starbucks into a $40 cup of coffee.  

33. The Federal Reserve, which has regulatory oversight over financial institutions, 

recognized that banks and credit unions had strong incentives to adopt these punitive overdraft 

programs. Banks and credit unions could rely on charging high fees for very little service and 

almost no risk on thousands of transactions per day, giving consumers no choice in the matter if 

they wanted to have a bank account at all. It is for these reasons that in 2009, the Federal Reserve 

Board amended Regulation E to require financial institutions to obtain affirmative consent (or 

so-called “opt in”) from account holders for overdraft coverage on ATM and non-recurring 

“point of sale” debit card transactions. After Regulation E’s amendment, a financial institution 

could only lawfully charge an overdraft fee on one-time debit card purchases and ATM 

withdrawals if the consumer opted into the financial institution’s overdraft program. Otherwise, 

the bank or credit union could either cover the overdraft without charging a fee, or direct the 

transaction to be denied at the point of sale. Further, without the opt-in, the financial institution 

 
8 For a thorough description of the mechanics of an “overdraft,” see 
https://www.investopedia.com/terms/o/overdraft.asp (last visited Aug. 26, 2021). 
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could not charge an NSF fee because denying an ATM withdrawal or one-time debit card 

purchase meant no transaction had ever taken place, and thus there was no transaction to return.  

34. After the CFPB’s creation, it subsequently undertook the study referenced above 

regarding financial institutions’ overdraft programs and whether they were satisfying consumer 

needs. Unsurprisingly, the CFPB found that overdraft programs had a series of problems. The 

most pressing problem was that overdraft services were costly and damaging to account holders. 

The percentage of accounts experiencing at least one overdraft (or NSF) transaction in 2011 was 

27%, and the average amount of overdraft and NSF-related fees paid by accounts that paid fees 

was $225. The CFPB further estimated that the banking industry may have collected anywhere 

from $12.6 to $32 billion in consumer NSF and overdraft fees in 2011, depending on what 

assumptions the analyst used in calculating the percentage of reported fee income should be 

attributed to overdrafts. The CFPB also noted that there were numerous “variations in overdraft-

related practices and policies,” all of which could “affect when a transaction might overdraw a 

consumer’s account and whether or not the consumer would be charged a fee.”9  

35. Given the state of overdraft programs prior to Regulation E’s amendment, it is 

easy to understand why the Federal Reserve was concerned about protecting consumers from 

financial institutions unilaterally imposing high fees. Banks and credit unions in this scenario had 

significant advantages over consumers when it came to imposing overdraft policies. By 

defaulting to charging fees for point-of-sale transactions, banks and credit unions created for 

themselves a virtual no-lose scenario—advance small amounts of funds (average $24) for a small 

period of time (average 3 days), then charge a large fee (average $34) that is unrelated to the 

amount of money advanced on behalf of the customer, resulting in an APR of thousands of 

percent interest (using averages—17,000% APR), all while assuming very little risk because 

only a very small percentage of overdraft customers fail to repay an overdraft. 

 
9 The Federal Reserve has previously noted that “improvements in the disclosures provided to 
consumers could aid them in understanding the costs associated with overdrawing their accounts 
and promote better account management.” 69 Fed. Reg. 31761 (June 7, 2004).  
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36. Because of this, Regulation E does not merely require a financial institution to 

obtain an opt-in disclosure agreement before charging fees for transactions that result in 

overdrafts. It also provides that the opt-in disclosure agreement must satisfy certain requirements 

to be valid. The agreement must be a stand-alone document, segregated from other forms, 

disclosures, or contracts provided by the financial institution. It must also accurately disclose to 

the account holder the institution’s overdraft charge policies. The account holder’s choices must 

be presented in a “clear and readily understandable manner.” 12 C.F.R. § 1005.4(a)(1). The 

financial institution must ultimately establish that the account holder has opted-in to overdraft 

coverage either through a written agreement, or through a confirmation letter to the customer 

confirming opt-in if the opt-in has taken place by telephone or computer after being provided a 

compliant opt-in disclosure agreement.  

37. In the wake of Regulation E, some financial institutions simply decided to forego 

charging overdraft fees on non-recurring debit card and ATM transactions. These include large 

banks such as Bank of America, and smaller banks such as One West Bank, First Republic Bank, 

and Mechanics Bank. However, most financial institutions continued to maintain overdraft 

services on one-time debit card and ATM withdrawals. As such, these banks and credit unions 

must satisfy Regulation E’s requirements in order to obtain compliant affirmative consent from 

their accountholders before charging overdraft fees on eligible transactions. 

38. But financial institutions did not stop with charging these exorbitant penalty fees. 

Instead, many of them began manipulating the process as to when they would consider a 

transaction an overdraft, because the more overdrafts they could create, the more their profits 

would increase. To that end, they charged overdraft fees no longer just when the financial 

institution actually advanced money on behalf of the customer, but extended overdraft fees to 

transactions paid with their customers’ own money. That is, the financial institution unilaterally 

decided the account was overdrawn not because of an actual lack of funds, but based on an 

artificial calculation involving the money in the account minus holds the financial institution 

unilaterally reserved for future payment at some future date.  
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39. Most banks and credit unions calculate two account balances related to their 

accounting of a customer checking account. “Actual balance,” “ledger balance,” “current 

balance” or even “balance” are all terms used to describe the actual amount of the 

accountholder’s money in the account at any particular time. In contrast, “available balance” is a 

term of art the financial industry uses to describe the balance reduced from the actual account 

balance by the amount the bank or credit union has either held from deposits or held from the 

account because of authorized debit transactions that have not yet come in (and may never come 

in) for payment.10 But absent further explanation introducing these concepts to consumers, terms 

like “available balance” have little or no meaning to reasonable consumers. 

40. Although financial institutions calculate the two balances, the 

actual/ledger/current balance of the money in the account is the official balance. It is used when 

financial institutions report deposits to regulators, when they pay interest on an account, and 

when they report the amount of money in the account in monthly statements to the customer—

the official record of the account.  

41. While there is no regulation barring any financial institution from deciding 

whether it will assess overdraft or NSF fees based on the actual account balance or the “available 

balance” for overdraft and NSF assessment purposes, per Regulation E, the terms of the 

overdraft program must be clearly and accurately disclosed. Whether the financial institution 

uses the actual money in the account or some other artificial balance to assess overdraft fees, is 

information the customer needs to understand the overdraft program. 

42. Many financial institutions use the “available balance” for overdraft assessment 

purposes as it consistent with these institutions’ self-interest because the available balance is 

always the same or lower, by definition, than the actual balance. The actual balance includes all 

money in the account. On the other hand, the available balance always subtracts any holds placed 

on the funds in the account that may affect the money in the account in the future. It never adds 

 
10 Some financial institutions use a third balance called the collected balance, which is also an 
internal calculated balance that is the actual account balance minus only deposit holds, and does 
not include debit holds. 
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funds to the account. To be clear, even when a financial institution has put a hold on funds in an 

account, the funds remain in the account. The financial institution’s “hold” is merely an internal 

characterization the bank or credit union uses to categorize some of the money. All of the 

accountholder’s money remains in the account, even the money Defendant has defined as “held.” 

The fact that the money has a “hold” on it does not mean it has been removed from the account. 

43. The difference between which of the two balances a financial institution may use 

to calculate overdraft transactions is material to both the financial institution and account 

holders. Prior investigation in similar lawsuits demonstrates that financial institutions using the 

available balance, instead of actual balance, increase the number of transactions that are assessed 

overdraft fees approximately 10-20%. What happens in those 10-20% of transactions is that 

sufficient funds are in the account to pay the transaction and therefore the bank or credit union 

has not advanced any funds to the customer. At all times, the financial institution uses the 

customer’s own money to pay the transaction, which really means there has never been an 

overdraft at all—yet the financial institution charges an overdraft fee on the transaction anyway.  

44. A hypothetical demonstrates what the financial institution does under these 

circumstances. Suppose that an individual has $1,000. The individual intends to use $800 of this 

amount to pay rent. The individual then intends to use the other $200 to make his monthly car 

payment. But before the rent and car payment come due, the individual receives a $40 water bill 

which informs that the bill must be paid immediately, or water service will be cut off. The 

individual now takes $40 from the money he has earmarked for his car payment to pay the water 

bill. This individual has not spent more money that he has on hand—but he does need to find an 

additional $40 before the car payment comes due. And if the individual does find the additional 

$40 before paying the car payment, there will never be a problem. If he falls short, he may 

choose to proceed with the transaction anyway, for example, by writing a check for the car 

payment when he does not have funds to cover the bill. He would then create a potential 

“overdraft” of his funds for the car payment, but not the rent payment and the water bill. 

45. The same pattern holds for financial institutions that calculate overdrafts using the 

actual (or ledger or current) balance of an account. Suppose the same individual put the $1,000 in 
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his checking account under similar circumstances on the 27th of the month. That day, he also 

authorizes his $800 rent to be paid on the first of the next month, and his $200 car payment to be 

paid on the third of the next month. The individual then realizes that the $40 payment on his 

water bill must be paid that day—the 27th of the month—or he will incur a fee. He approves the 

water bill payment, and it posts immediately. Then, a few days later, he transfers an additional 

$40 into the account which is enough to offset the water bill payment before the initial $800 rent 

and $200 car payments post and clear the account. All three payments are made with the 

individual’s own account funds. The financial institution never uses its own funds as an advance, 

and there is no “overdraft” of the account because the balance always remains positive. 

However, even if the customer does not transfer the $40, it is only the car payment which posts 

last that is paid without sufficient money in the account to cover it. Thus, there is only one 

transaction (i.e., the car payment) eligible for an overdraft fee. 

46. A financial institution using the “available balance” method of calculating 

overdrafts would come to a different conclusion. Because the available balance subtracts from 

the account the amount of money that the financial institution is “holding” for other pending 

transactions, the financial institution considers the money set aside and unavailable, even though 

it is still in the account. This means that after the $800 and $200 transactions are scheduled, the 

“available balance” of the account is $0 even though $1,000 still remains in the account. Under 

these circumstances, when the individual makes the additional $40 payment and it posts first, the 

“available balance” is negative and the accountholder is charged an overdraft fee—even though 

the original $1,000 is still in the account. And what is worse, even if the accountholder deposits 

$40 in the account before the original $800 and $200 payments post and clear, he is still subject 

to the overdraft fee for the $40 transaction even though the financial institution never “covered” 

any portion of the payment with its own funds. Finally, what is worse still, if the customer does 

not make a deposit to cover the overdraft, the customer will be assessed an overdraft fee for all 

three transactions. Thus, using the available balance, although the financial institution only has to 

advance its own funds for one transaction (i.e., the car payment), the financial institution will 

assess three overdraft fees tripling its profits from the same transactions.  
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47. Financial institutions have been put on notice by regulators, banking associations, 

their insurance companies and risk management departments, and from observing litigation and 

settlements that the practice of using the available balance instead of the actual amount of money 

in the account (i.e., the actual, ledger, or current balance) to calculate overdrafts without clear 

disclosure of that practice likely violates Reg E and other state laws. For instance, the FDIC 

stated in 2019: 

Institutions’ processing systems utilize an “available balance” 
method or a “ledger balance” method to assess overdraft fees. The 
FDIC identified issues regarding certain overdraft programs that 
used an available balance method to determine when overdraft fees 
could be assessed. Specifically, FDIC examiners observed 
potentially unfair or deceptive practices when institutions using an 
available balance method assessed more overdraft fees than were 
appropriate based on the consumer’s actual spending or when 
institutions did not adequately describe how the available balance 
method works in connection with overdrafts.11 
 

The CFPB provided in its Winter 2015 Supervisory Highlights, that: 

A ledger-balance method factors in only settled transactions in 
calculating an account’s balance; an available-balance method 
calculates an account’s balance based on electronic transactions 
that the institutions have authorized (and therefore are obligated to 
pay) but not yet settled, along with settled transactions. An 
available balance also reflects holds on deposits that have not yet 
cleared. Examiners observed that in some instances, transactions 
that would not have resulted in an overdraft (or an overdraft fee) 
under a ledger-balance method did result in an overdraft (and an 
overdraft fee) under an available-balance method. At one or more 
financial institutions, examiners noted that these changes to the 
balance calculation method used were not disclosed at all, or were 
not sufficiently disclosed, resulting in customers being misled as to 
the circumstances under which overdraft fees would be assessed. 
Because these misleading practices could be material to a 
reasonable consumer’s decision making and actions, they were 
found to be deceptive.12 

48. Under Regulation E, the financial institution may decide which balance it chooses 

to use for overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions, but it is also very clear 

that it must disclose this practice accurately, clearly and in a way that is easily understood. As 

 
11https://www.fdic.gov/regulations/examinations/consumercomplsupervisoryhighlights.pdf (last 
visited Aug. 26, 2021). 
12 https://files.consumerfinance.gov/f/201503_cfpb_supervisory-highlights-winter-2015.pdf, p. 8 
(last visited Aug. 26, 2021). 
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the Regulation E opt-in disclosure agreement must include this information in a stand-alone 

document, the use of available balance must be stated and explained in the opt-in disclosure 

agreement to conform to Regulation E and permit the financial institution from charging that 

customer overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions. Either inaccurately or 

ambiguously describing the use of which balance a financial institution uses as part of its 

overdraft practice violates the plain language of Regulation E.   

C. GNCU’s Regulation E Practices 

49. GNCU opts members into its overdraft program using an opt-in disclosure 

agreement that violates Regulation E. The opt-in disclosure agreement is inaccurate and/or 

unclear because, inter alia, it does not inform Plaintiff and putative class members about 

GNCU’s method of assessing overdraft fees. 

50. In its opt-in disclosure agreement, GNCU explains that an overdraft occurs “when 

you do not have enough money in your account to cover a transaction.” But GNCU fails to 

explain what it means for the member to not have “enough money” in the account. In fact, 

GNCU does charge overdraft fees even when there is enough money in the account to cover the 

transaction, which means that the opt-in disclosure agreement is not accurate.   

51. Many courts have already found that failing to clearly and accurately describe an 

overdraft program in an opt-in disclosure agreement constitutes a Regulation E violation.13 By 

using inaccurate and/or ambiguous language to describe what constitutes an overdraft, GNCU 

 
13 Tims v. LGE Cmty. Credit Union, 935 F.3d 1228, 1237-38; 1243-45 (11th Cir. 2019); 
Bettencourt v. Jeanne D’Arc Credit Union, 370 F. Supp. 3d 258, 261-66 (D. Mass. 2019); 
Pinkston-Poling v. Advia Credit Union, 227 F. Supp. 3d 848, 855-57 (W.D. Mich. 2016); 
Walbridge v. Northeast Credit Union, 299 F. Supp. 3d 338, 343-46; 348 (D.N.H. 2018) (holding 
that terms such as “enough money,” “insufficient funds,” “nonsufficient funds,” “available 
funds,” “insufficient available funds,” and “account balance” were ambiguous such that the Reg 
E claim was not dismissed ); Smith v. Bank of Hawaii, No. 16-00513 JMS-RLP, 2017 WL 
3597522, at *6–8 (D. Haw. Apr. 13, 2017) (“sporadic” use of terms such as “available” funds or 
balances insufficiently explained to consumer when overdraft fee could be charged and 
ambiguous use of terms in opt-in agreement constituted a proper allegation of a Reg E violation); 
Walker v. People’s United Bank, 305 F. Supp. 3d 365, 375-76 (D. Conn. 2018) (holding that 
allegations were sufficient to state a cause of action for violation of Reg E where opt-in form 
failed to provide customers with a valid description of overdraft program); Ramirez v. Baxter 
Credit Union, No. 16-CV-03765-SI, 2017 WL 1064991, at *4-8 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 21, 2017); 
Gunter v. United Fed. Credit Union, No. 315CV00483MMDWGC, 2016 WL 3457009, at *3-4 
(D. Nev. June 22, 2016). 
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failed to provide the clear and easily understandable description of its overdraft services that 

Regulation E demands. 

52. Institutions that use an account’s “available” balance to calculate overdrafts 

disclose it in a far more clear and specific manner than GNCU. For example, Synovus Bank 

defines an overdraft as when there is not enough money in an account, but adds the additional 

caveat that it “authorize[s] and pay[s] transactions using the Available Balance in [the] account,” 

and then specifically defines the Available Balance. TD Bank’s opt-in disclosure agreement 

states as follows: “An overdraft occurs when your available balance is not sufficient to cover a 

transaction, but we pay it anyway. Your available balance is reduced by any ‘pending’ debit card 

transactions (purchases and ATM withdrawals) and includes any deposited funds that have been 

made available pursuant to our Funds Availability Policy.” Similarly, Communication Federal 

Credit Union’s opt-in disclosure agreement states, “[a]n overdraft occurs when you do not have 

enough money in your account to cover a transaction, or the transaction exceeds your available 

balance, but we pay it anyway. ‘Available Balance’ is your account balance less any holds 

placed on your account.” 

53. Because GNCU failed to accurately, clearly, and in an easily understandable way 

disclose its overdraft policies, and it failed to provide its members with a Regulation E complaint 

opt-in disclosure agreement. Thus, it continues to charge Plaintiff and Class Members overdraft 

fees for non-recurring debit card and ATM transactions in violation of Regulation E. Further, on 

information and belief, GNCU continues to “opt-in” new members to its overdraft program using 

the same improper opt-in disclosure agreement.   

 FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS AGAINST DEFENDANT 

54. GNCU failed to define the terms “insufficient funds,” “insufficient available 

funds,” “funds not available,” and “available balance” in the standard opt-in disclosure 

agreement it uses to enroll members in its overdraft program for one-time debit card and ATM 

transactions. 

55. At all relevant times, GNCU knew or should have known that in order to legally 

charge overdraft fees to members, it was required to first obtain affirmative consent from each 
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member using a Regulation E compliant stand-alone opt-in disclosure agreement. Regulation E 

compliance requires, at a minimum, that a financial institution accurately disclose all material 

parts of its overdraft program and policies in the opt-in disclosure agreement in clear and easily 

understood language. 

56. At all relevant times, on information and belief, GNCU used nearly identical opt-

in disclosure agreements to opt-in Plaintiff and all putative class members.   

57. Because GNCU uses an opt-in disclosure agreement that does not accurately and 

clearly describe its overdraft practices, GNCU has no legal basis on which to charge members 

overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions, yet it does so anyway. 

58. At all relevant times, GNCU knew it was using a specific “available” balance 

methodology to assess overdraft fees, and further knew or should have known that its 

methodology should be clearly and accurately described in a stand-alone document. GNCU also 

knew or should have known that its opt-in disclosure agreement failed to provide an accurate, 

clear, and easily understandable definition of an overdraft. 

59. At all relevant times, GNCU knew or should have known that Regulation E 

requires an accurate disclosure of GNCU’s overdraft services in a clear and conspicuous manner, 

and that it prohibited the use of inconsistent terminology to describe such terms.   

60. At all relevant times, GNCU misrepresented its overdraft program and promoted 

it inaccurately and/or in a misleading way. 

61. At all relevant times, GNCU charged Plaintiff and the putative class members 

overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions even though it did not first obtain 

members’ affirmative consent using a legal opt-in disclosure agreement.  

62. Based on information and belief, GNCU continues to opt members into its 

overdraft program using a non-compliant opt-in disclosure agreement, and then charges its 

members overdraft fees on certain one-time debit card and ATM transactions. 
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63. Based on information and belief, GNCU continues to charge existing members 

overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions who had “opted-in” using that same 

non-compliant opt-in disclosure agreement.14 

 PLAINTIFF’S HARM 

64. Plaintiff has held an account with GNCU at all times relevant to the allegations 

and is believed to be opted into its overdraft program for his debit card and ATM transactions.  

65. As will be established using GNCU’s own records, Plaintiff has been assessed 

numerous improper fees on debit card and ATM transactions. On at least one occasion, Plaintiff 

was charged overdraft fees even when there was enough money in her account to cover her 

transaction.  

66. The extent of improper charges GNCU assessed upon Plaintiff and other members 

will be determined in discovery using GNCU’s records.  

67. Plaintiff did not and could not have, exercising reasonable diligence, discovered 

both that she had been injured and the actual cause of that injury until she met with her attorneys. 

While Plaintiff understood that she was assessed fees, she did not understand the cause of those 

fees until 2021 because GNCU was creating confusion among its members by describing 

different practices in agreements and other materials it was disseminating to members. This not 

only reasonably delayed discovery, but GNCU’s affirmative representations and actions also 

equitably toll any statute of limitations, and also additionally equitably estop GNCU.  

 CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

68. The preceding allegations are incorporated by reference and re-alleged as if fully 

set forth herein. 

69. Plaintiff brings this case, and each of the respective causes of action, as a class 

action. 

 

 
14 Because SPFCU does not make information about how it opts in its members publicly 
available, the complaint may be amended following discovery to include additional grounds for 
Plaintiff’s Regulation E violations.  
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70. The “Class” is composed of: 

The Regulation E Class: 

All GNCU members who have or have had accounts with GNCU 
who were assessed an overdraft fee on a one-time debit card or 
ATM transaction beginning one-year preceding the filing of this 
complaint and ending on the date the Class is certified. Following 
discovery, this definition will be amended as appropriate. 

 The NDTPA Class: 

All GNCU members who have or have had accounts with GNCU 
who were assessed an overdraft fee on a one-time debit card or 
ATM transaction beginning four-years preceding the filing of this 
complaint and ending on the date the Class is certified. Following 
discovery, this definition will be amended as appropriate. 

71. Excluded from the Classes are: 1) any entity in which Defendant has a controlling 

interest; 2) officers or directors of Defendant; 3) this Court and any of its employees assigned to 

work on the case; and 4) all employees of the law firms representing Plaintiff and the Class 

Members. 

72. This action has been brought and may be properly maintained on behalf of each 

member of the Class pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(a), (b)(2), and (b)(3).  

73. Numerosity – The members of the Class (“Class Members”) are so numerous that 

joinder of all Class Members would be impracticable. While the exact number of Class Members 

is presently unknown to Plaintiff, and can only be determined through appropriate discovery, 

Plaintiff believes based on the percentage of members harmed by banks and credit unions with 

similar practices that the Class is likely to include thousands of GNCU members. 

74. Upon information and belief, GNCU has databases, and/or other documentation, 

of its members’ transactions and account enrollment. These databases and/or documents can be 

analyzed by an expert to ascertain which of Defendant’s members has been harmed by its 

practices and thus qualify as a Class Member. Further, the Class definitions identify groups of 

unnamed plaintiffs by describing a set of common characteristics sufficient to allow a member of 

that group to identify himself or herself as having a right to recover. Other than by direct notice 

through mail or email, alternative proper and sufficient notice of this action may be provided to 

the Class Members through notice published in newspapers or other publications. 
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75. Commonality – This action involves common questions of law and fact. The 

questions of law and fact common to both Plaintiff and the Class Members include, but are not 

limited to, the following: 

• Whether GNCU opt-in disclosure agreement violates Regulation E because it 

does not accurately, clearly, and in an easily understandable way describe 

GNCU’s overdraft program. 

• Whether GNCU violated Regulation E by assessing overdraft fees on one-time 

debit card and ATM transactions against Class Members. 

• Whether GNCU’s conduct also violates the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act 

• Whether GNCU continues to violate Regulation E by opting in members and the 

public using its opt-in disclosure agreement and continuing to assess members 

overdraft fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions based on its opt-in 

disclosure agreement. 

• Whether GNCU violated Regulation E by failing to opt members into its overdraft 

program by legal means, including properly publishing the opt-in form; obtaining 

and preserving members’ written consent; and sending confirmation of members’ 

decision to opt-in and instructions on how to opt out of the overdraft program.   

76. Typicality – Plaintiff’s claims are typical of all Class Members. The evidence and 

the legal theories regarding GNCU’s alleged wrongful conduct committed against Plaintiff and 

all of the Class Members are substantially the same because the opt-in disclosure agreement 

GNCU used to opt-in Plaintiff is the same as the opt-in disclosure agreement GNCU used to opt-

in the other Class Members. Plaintiff and the Class Members have each been assessed overdraft 

fees on one-time debit card and ATM transactions. Accordingly, Plaintiff will serve the interests 

of all Class Members. 

77. Adequacy – Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class 

Members. Plaintiff has retained competent counsel experienced in class action litigation, and 

specifically financial institution overdraft class action cases to ensure such protection. There are 
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no material conflicts between the claims of the representative Plaintiff and the members of the 

Class that would make class certification inappropriate. Plaintiff and counsel intend to prosecute 

this action vigorously. 

78. Predominance and Superiority – The matter is properly maintained as a class 

action because the common questions of law or fact identified herein and to be identified through 

discovery predominate over questions that may affect only individual Class Members. Further, 

the class action is superior to all other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of 

this matter. Because the injuries suffered by the individual Class Members are relatively small 

compared to the cost of the litigation, the expense and burden of individual litigation would 

make it virtually impossible for Plaintiff and Class Members to individually seek redress for 

GNCU’s wrongful conduct. Even if any individual person or group(s) of Class Members could 

afford individual litigation, it would be unduly burdensome to the courts in which the individual 

litigation would proceed. The class action device is preferable to individual litigation because it 

provides the benefits of unitary adjudication, economies of scale, and comprehensive 

adjudication by a single court. In contrast, the prosecution of separate actions by individual Class 

Members would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual 

Class Members that would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the party (or parties) 

opposing the Class and would lead to repetitious trials of the numerous common questions of 

fact and law. Plaintiff knows of no difficulty that will be encountered in the management of this 

litigation that would preclude its maintenance as a class action. As a result, a class action is 

superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy. 

Absent a class action, Plaintiff and the Class Members will continue to suffer losses, thereby 

allowing GNCU’s violations of law to proceed without remedy and allowing GNCU to retain the 

proceeds of its ill-gotten gains.  

79. Plaintiff does not believe that any other Class Members’ interests in individually 

controlling a separate action are significant, in that Plaintiff has demonstrated above that his 

claims are typical of the other Class Members and that he will adequately represent the Class. 

This particular forum is desirable for this litigation because Plaintiff’s claims arise from 
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activities that occurred largely therein. Plaintiff does not foresee significant difficulties in 

managing the class action in that the major issues in dispute are susceptible to class proof.  

80. Plaintiff anticipates the issuance of notice, setting forth the subject and nature of 

the instant action, to the proposed Class Members. Upon information and belief, GNCU’s own 

business records and/or electronic media can be utilized for the contemplated notices. To the 

extent that any further notices may be required, Plaintiff anticipates using additional media 

and/or mailings.  

81. This matter is properly maintained as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of 

Civil Procedure, Rule 23 in that without class certification and determination of declaratory, 

injunctive, statutory and other legal questions within the class format, prosecution of separate 

actions by individual members of the Class will create the risk of: 

• inconsistent or varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the 

Class which would establish incompatible standards of conduct for the parties 

opposing the Class; or 

• adjudication with respect to individual members of the Class would, as a practical 

matter, be dispositive of the interests of the other GNCU members not parties to 

the adjudication, or substantially impair or impede their ability to protect their 

interests.  

Common questions of law and fact exist as to members of the Class and predominate over any 

questions affecting only individual members, and a class action is superior to other available 

methods of the fair and efficient adjudication of the controversy, including consideration of:  

• the interests of the members of the Class in individually controlling the 

prosecution or defense of separate actions; 

• the extent and nature of any litigation concerning the controversy already 

commenced by or against members of the Class; and 

• the desirability or undesirability of concentrating the litigation of the claims in the 

particular forum; and the difficulties likely to be encountered in the management 

of a class action. 
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82. GNCU has acted or refused to act on grounds generally applicable to the Class, 

thereby making appropriate final declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to the Class as a 

whole under Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, Rule 23(b)(2). Moreover, on information and 

belief, Plaintiff alleges that GNCU’s use of a non-compliant Regulation E opt-in disclosure 

agreement is substantially likely to continue into the future if an injunction is not entered. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of Regulation E) 

83. The preceding allegations are incorporated by reference and re-alleged as if fully 

set forth herein. 

84. By charging overdraft fees on ATM and non-recurring debit card transactions, 

GNCU violated Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1005, et seq., whose “primary objective” is “the 

protection of individual consumers,” 12 C.F.R. § 1005.1(b), and which “carries out the purposes 

of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 1693, et seq., the ‘EFTA,’” 12 C.F.R. 

§ 1005.1(b).  

85. Specifically, GNCU’s conduct violated Regulation E’s “Opt In Rule.” See 12 

C.F.R. § 1005.17. The Opt In Rule states: “a financial institution . . . shall not assess a fee or 

charge . . . pursuant to the institution’s overdraft service, unless the institution: (i) [p]rovides the 

consumer with a notice in writing [the opt-in notice] . . . describing the institution’s overdraft 

service” and (ii) “[p]rovides a reasonable opportunity for the consumer to affirmatively consent” 

to enter into the overdraft program. Id. (emphasis added). The notice “shall be clear and readily 

understandable.” 12 C.F.R. § 1005.4(a)(1). To comply with the affirmative consent requirement, 

a financial institution must provide a segregated description of its overdraft practices that is 

accurate, non-misleading and truthful and that conforms to 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17 prior to the opt-

in, and must provide a reasonable opportunity to opt-in after receiving the description. The 

affirmative consent must be provided in a way mandated by 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, and the 

financial institution must provide confirmation of the opt-in in a manner that conforms to 12 

C.F.R. § 1005.17. Furthermore, choosing not to “opt-in” cannot adversely affect any other 

feature of the account, nor can the financial institution influence a customer’s decision to opt-in. 
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86. The intent and purpose of this opt-in disclosure agreement is to “assist customers 

in understanding how overdraft services provided by their institutions operate . . . by explaining 

the institution’s overdraft service . . . in a clear and readily understandable way”—as stated in the 

Official Staff Commentary, 74 Fed. Reg. 59033, 59035, 59037, 59040, 59048, which is “the 

CFPB’s official interpretation of its own regulation,” “warrants deference from the courts unless 

‘demonstrably irrational,’” and should therefore be treated as “a definitive interpretation” of 

Regulation E. Strubel v. Capital One Bank (USA), 179 F. Supp. 3d 320, 324 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) 

(quoting Chase Bank USA v. McCoy, 562 U.S. 195, 211 (2011) (so holding for the CFPB’s 

Official Staff Commentary for the Truth In Lending Act’s Reg Z)).  

87. GNCU failed to comply with Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17, which requires 

affirmative consent before a financial institution may assess overdraft fees against member 

accounts through an overdraft program for ATM withdrawals and non-recurring debit card 

transactions. GNCU has failed to comply with the 12 C.F.R. § 1005.17 opt-in requirements, 

including failing to provide members an accurate and non-ambiguous description of the overdraft 

program that members can understand in a “clear and readily understandable way.” Further, the 

opt-in disclosure agreement fails to include all of the Regulation E required disclosures and 

includes other prohibited information. 

88. As a result of violating Regulation E’s prohibition against assessing overdraft fees 

on ATM and non-recurring debit card transactions without obtaining valid affirmative consent to 

do so, GNCU was not legally permitted to assess any overdraft fees on one-time debit card or 

ATM transactions, and it has harmed Plaintiff and the Class Members by assessing overdraft fees 

on one-time debit card and ATM transactions. 

89. As the result of GNCU’s violations of Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. § 1005, et seq., 

Plaintiff and members of the Class are entitled to statutory damages, as well as attorneys’ fees 

and costs of suit, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1693m. 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, 

Nev. Rev. Stat., §§ 598.0903, et seq.) 

90. The preceding allegations are incorporated by reference and re-alleged as if fully 

set forth herein.  

91. GNCU’s conduct described herein violates the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices 

Act, codified at Nev. Rev. Stat. §§ 598.0903, et seq. The Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act 

prohibits, among other things, knowingly making a false representation in a transaction.  

92. As further alleged herein, GNCU’s conduct violates the Nevada Deceptive Trade 

Practices Act insofar as GNCU charges overdraft or NSF fees in violation of Regulation E. 

GNCU’s conduct was misleading and deceptive, with the purpose of convincing members to 

enroll in GNCU’s lucrative overdraft program. 

93. As a result of GNCU’s violations, Plaintiff and Class Members have paid 

improper overdraft fees and thereby have suffered actual loss of money. Absent injunctive relief 

forcing GNCU to disgorge itself of its ill-gotten gains and public injunctive relief prohibiting 

GNCU from misrepresenting and omitting material information concerning its overdraft policy 

at issue in this action in the future, Plaintiff, GNCU members, and the general public will suffer 

from and be exposed to GNCU’s unlawful conduct. 

 PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff and the Putative Class pray for judgment as follows: 

a. for an order certifying this action as a class action; 

b. for compensatory damages on all applicable claims and in an amount to be 

proven at trial; 

c. for an order requiring GNCU to disgorge, restore, and return all monies 

wrongfully obtained together with interest calculated at the maximum 

legal rate; 

d. for statutory damages; 

e. for civil penalties; 
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f. for an order enjoining the continued wrongful conduct alleged herein; 

g. for costs; 

h. for pre-judgment and post-judgment interest as provided by law; 

i. for attorneys’ fees under the Electronic Fund Transfer Act, the common 

fund doctrine, the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act, and all other 

applicable law; and  

j. for such other relief as the Court deems just and proper. 

 

Dated: August 26, 2021   Respectfully Submitted,  
 
/s/ Gregory G. Gordon    
Gregory J. Gordon 
ggordon@gordonlvlaw.com 
Gregory Gordon Law, P.C. 
4795 South Durango Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89147 
Telephone: (702) 363-1072 
 
Richard D. McCune (State Bar No. 132124)* 
rdm@mccunewright.com 
David C. Wright (State Bar No. 177468)* 
dcw@mccunewright.com 
MCCUNE WRIGHT AREVALO, LLP 
3281 E. Guasti Road, Suite 100 
Ontario, California 91761 
Telephone: (909) 557-1250 
Facsimile: (909) 557 1275 
 
Emily J. Kirk (IL Bar No. 6275282)* 
ejk@mccunewright.com 
McCUNE WRIGHT AREVALO, LLP 
231 N. Main Street, Suite 20 
Edwardsville, IL 62025 
Telephone: (618) 307-6116 
Facsimile: (618) 307-6161 
 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff Linda Schmidt Skogmo  
 and the Putative Class 

 
* Pro Hac Vice Applications will be submitted 
within 14 days in compliance with LR 1A 11-2 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff and the Class Members demand a trial by jury on all issues so triable. 

 

Dated: August 26, 2021   Respectfully Submitted,  
 
/s/ Gregory G. Gordon    
Gregory J. Gordon 
ggordon@gordonlvlaw.com 
Gregory Gordon Law, P.C. 
4795 South Durango Drive 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89147 
Telephone: (702) 363-1072 
 
Richard D. McCune (State Bar No. 132124)* 
rdm@mccunewright.com 
David C. Wright (State Bar No. 177468)* 
dcw@mccunewright.com 
MCCUNE WRIGHT AREVALO, LLP 
3281 E. Guasti Road, Suite 100 
Ontario, California 91761 
Telephone: (909) 557-1250 
Facsimile: (909) 557 1275 
 
Emily J. Kirk (IL Bar No. 6275282)* 
ejk@mccunewright.com 
McCUNE WRIGHT AREVALO, LLP 
231 N. Main Street, Suite 20 
Edwardsville, IL 62025 
Telephone: (618) 307-6116 
Facsimile: (618) 307-6161 
 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff Linda Schmidt Skogmo  
 and the Putative Class 

 
*Pro Hac Vice Applications will be submitted 
within 14 days in compliance with LR 1A 11-2 

 
 

 

Case 3:21-cv-00384-LRH-CLB   Document 1   Filed 08/26/21   Page 29 of 29

mailto:rdm@mccunewright.com
mailto:dcw@mccunewright.com
mailto:ejk@mccunewright.com


JS 44   (Rev. 10/20) CIVIL COVER SHEET
The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as 
provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the 
purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.    (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

I. (a) PLAINTIFFS DEFENDANTS

(b) County of Residence of First Listed Plaintiff County of Residence of First Listed Defendant
(EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES) (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY)

NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF 
THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.

(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Address, and Telephone Number) Attorneys (If Known)

II. BASIS OF JURISDICTION (Place an “X” in One Box Only) III. CITIZENSHIP OF PRINCIPAL PARTIES (Place an “X” in One Box for Plaintiff 
and One Box for Defendant) (For Diversity Cases Only)

1 U.S. Government 3 Federal Question PTF DEF PTF DEF
Plaintiff (U.S. Government Not a Party) Citizen of This State 1 1 Incorporated or Principal Place 4 4

of Business In This State

2 U.S. Government 4 Diversity Citizen of Another State 2 2 Incorporated and Principal Place 5 5
Defendant (Indicate Citizenship of Parties in Item III) of Business In Another State

Citizen or Subject of a 3 3 Foreign Nation 6 6
Foreign Country

IV. NATURE OF SUIT (Place an “X” in One Box Only) Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
CONTRACT TORTS FORFEITURE/PENALTY BANKRUPTCY OTHER STATUTES

110 Insurance PERSONAL INJURY PERSONAL INJURY 625 Drug Related Seizure 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 375 False Claims Act
120 Marine 310 Airplane 365 Personal Injury  - of Property 21 USC 881 423 Withdrawal 376 Qui Tam (31 USC 
130 Miller Act 315 Airplane Product Product Liability 690 Other 28 USC 157 3729(a))
140 Negotiable Instrument Liability 367 Health Care/ 400 State Reapportionment
150 Recovery of Overpayment 320 Assault, Libel & Pharmaceutical PROPERTY RIGHTS 410 Antitrust

& Enforcement of Judgment Slander Personal Injury 820 Copyrights 430 Banks and Banking
151 Medicare Act 330 Federal Employers’ Product Liability 830 Patent 450 Commerce
152 Recovery of Defaulted Liability 368 Asbestos Personal 835 Patent - Abbreviated 460 Deportation

Student Loans 340 Marine Injury Product New Drug Application 470 Racketeer Influenced and
(Excludes Veterans) 345 Marine Product Liability 840 Trademark Corrupt Organizations

153 Recovery of Overpayment Liability PERSONAL PROPERTY LABOR 880 Defend Trade Secrets 480 Consumer Credit
of Veteran’s Benefits 350 Motor Vehicle 370 Other Fraud 710 Fair Labor Standards Act of 2016 (15 USC 1681 or 1692)

160 Stockholders’ Suits 355 Motor Vehicle 371 Truth in Lending Act 485 Telephone Consumer
190 Other Contract Product Liability 380 Other Personal 720 Labor/Management SOCIAL SECURITY Protection Act
195 Contract Product Liability 360 Other Personal Property Damage Relations 861 HIA (1395ff) 490 Cable/Sat TV
196 Franchise Injury 385 Property Damage 740 Railway Labor Act 862 Black Lung (923) 850 Securities/Commodities/

362 Personal Injury - Product Liability 751 Family and Medical 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) Exchange
Medical Malpractice Leave Act 864 SSID Title XVI 890 Other Statutory Actions

REAL PROPERTY CIVIL RIGHTS PRISONER PETITIONS 790 Other Labor Litigation 865 RSI (405(g)) 891 Agricultural Acts
210 Land Condemnation 440 Other Civil Rights Habeas Corpus: 791 Employee Retirement 893 Environmental Matters
220 Foreclosure 441 Voting 463 Alien Detainee Income Security Act FEDERAL TAX SUITS 895 Freedom of Information
230 Rent Lease & Ejectment 442 Employment 510 Motions to Vacate 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff Act
240 Torts to Land 443 Housing/ Sentence or Defendant) 896 Arbitration
245 Tort Product Liability Accommodations 530 General 871 IRS—Third Party 899 Administrative Procedure
290 All Other Real Property 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - 535 Death Penalty IMMIGRATION Act/Review or Appeal of

Employment Other: 462 Naturalization Application Agency Decision
446 Amer. w/Disabilities - 540 Mandamus & Other 465 Other Immigration 950 Constitutionality of

Other 550 Civil Rights Actions State Statutes
448 Education 555 Prison Condition

560 Civil Detainee -
Conditions of 
Confinement

V. ORIGIN (Place an “X” in One Box Only)
1 Original

Proceeding 
2 Removed from

State Court
3 Remanded from

Appellate Court 
4 Reinstated or

Reopened
5 Transferred from

Another District
(specify)

6 Multidistrict
Litigation - 
Transfer

8  Multidistrict
Litigation -
Direct File

VI. CAUSE OF ACTION
Cite the U.S. Civil Statute under which you are filing (Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity):

Brief description of cause:

VII. REQUESTED IN
COMPLAINT:

CHECK IF THIS IS A CLASS ACTION
UNDER RULE 23, F.R.Cv.P. 

DEMAND $ CHECK YES only if demanded in complaint:
JURY DEMAND: Yes No

VIII. RELATED CASE(S)
IF ANY (See instructions):

JUDGE DOCKET NUMBER

DATE SIGNATURE OF ATTORNEY OF RECORD

FOR OFFICE USE ONLY

RECEIPT # AMOUNT APPLYING IFP JUDGE MAG. JUDGE

26 USC 7609

Douglas

LINDA SCHMIDT SKOGMO, individually, and on behalf 
of all others similarly situated,

Gregory G. Gordon (#5334) - ggordon@gordonlvlaw.com
4795 S Durango Dr, Las Vegas, NV 89147 
Telephone: (702) 363-1072

GREATER NEVADA CREDIT UNION, and DOES 1 through 
5, inclusive,

✖

✖

28 U.S.C. § 1331

Violation of the Electronic Fund Transfer Act (Regulation E, 12 C.F.R. §§ 1005)

✖

✖

✖

08/26/2021 /s/ Gregory G. Gordon

Case 3:21-cv-00384-LRH-CLB   Document 1-1   Filed 08/26/21   Page 1 of 2



JS 44 Reverse (Rev. 10/20)

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44
Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as 
required by law, except as provided by local rules of court.  This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is 
required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet.  Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of 
Court for each civil complaint filed.  The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows: 

I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.  Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant.  If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use   
only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then 
the official, giving both name and title.

   (b) County of Residence.  For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the 
time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land 
condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.) 

   (c) Attorneys.  Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record.  If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting  
in this section "(see attachment)". 

II.   Jurisdiction.  The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings.  Place an "X" 
in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below. 
United States plaintiff.  (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348.  Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. 
United States defendant.  (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box. 
Federal question.  (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment 
to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes 
precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked. 
Diversity of citizenship.  (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states.  When Box 4 is checked, the  
citizenship of the different parties must be checked.  (See Section III below; NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity  
cases.) 

III.   Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties.  This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above.  Mark this 
section for each principal party. 

IV. Nature of Suit.  Place an "X" in the appropriate box.  If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code  
that is most applicable.  Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions. 

V.  Origin.  Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes. 
Original Proceedings.  (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts. 
Removed from State Court.  (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441.   
Remanded from Appellate Court.  (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action.  Use the date of remand as the filing 
date. 
Reinstated or Reopened.  (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court.  Use the reopening date as the filing date. 
Transferred from Another District.  (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a).  Do not use this for within district transfers or
multidistrict litigation transfers. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer.  (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. 
Section 1407. 
Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File.  (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.  
PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7.  Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to  
changes in statue. 

VI.  Cause of Action.  Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause.  Do not cite jurisdictional  
statutes unless diversity.  Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service. 

VII.  Requested in Complaint.  Class Action.  Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. 
Demand.  In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. 
Jury Demand.  Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded. 

VIII.   Related Cases.   This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any.  If there are related pending cases, insert the docket  
numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases. 

Date and Attorney Signature.  Date and sign the civil cover sheet. 

Case 3:21-cv-00384-LRH-CLB   Document 1-1   Filed 08/26/21   Page 2 of 2



AO 440 (Rev. 06/12)  Summons in a Civil Action

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
for the

__________ District of __________ 

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Plaintiff(s)

v. Civil Action No.

Defendant(s)

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION

To: (Defendant’s name and address)

A lawsuit has been filed against you.

Within 21 days after service of this summons on you (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you
are the United States or a United States agency, or an officer or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ.
P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an answer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of
the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure.  The answer or motion must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff’s attorney,
whose name and address are:

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. 
You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

CLERK OF COURT

Date:
Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk

District of Nevada

LINDA SCHMIDT SKOGMO, individually, and on
behalf of all others similarly situated,

GREATER NEVADA CREDIT UNION, and
DOES 1 through 5, inclusive,

Greater Nevada Credit Union
c/o Registered Agent
Craig Fennemore, P.C.
7800 Rancharrah Parkway
Reno, NV 89511

3:21-cv-384
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Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE
(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (l))

This summons for (name of individual and title, if any)

was received by me on (date) .

I personally served the summons on the individual at (place)

on (date) ; or

I left the summons at the individual’s residence or usual place of abode with (name)

, a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there,

on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual’s last known address; or

I served the summons on (name of individual) , who is

 designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)

on (date) ; or

I returned the summons unexecuted because ; or

Other (specify):

.

My fees are $ for travel and $ for services, for a total of $ .

I declare under penalty of perjury that this information is true.

Date:
Server’s signature

Printed name and title

Server’s address

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

0.00
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